# Effect of Fibrin-Fibronectin Sealing System in combination with β-Tricalcium Phosphate as a Carrier for Recombinant Human Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 on Bone Formation in Rat Calvarial Defects

Sung-Jae Hong

The Graduate School

Yonsei University

Department of Dental Science

# Effect of Fibrin-Fibronectin Sealing System in combination with ß-Tricalcium Phosphate as a Carrier for Recombinant Human Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 on Bone Formation in Rat Calvarial Defects

A Dissertation Thesis Submitted to the Department of Dental Science and the Graduate School of Yonsei University In partial fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of Dental Science

Sung-Jae Hong

June 2005

## This certifies that the dissertation thesis

of Sung-Jae Hong is approved.

Thesis Supervisor: Kyoo-Sung Cho

Seong-Ho Choi

Chang-Sung Kim

Keun-Woo Lee

Jong-In Yook

The Graduate School Yonsei University June 2005

### 감사의 글

본 논문이 완성되기까지 부족한 저를 항상 격려해 주시고 사랑과 관심 으로 이끌어 주신 조규성 교수님께 깊은 감사를 드립니다. 그리고, 많은 조언과 따뜻한 관심으로 지켜봐 주신 김종관 교수님, 채중규 교수님, 최성 호 교수님, 김창성 교수님, 정의원 교수님께 진심으로 감사 드립니다.

연구 내내 많은 도움을 준 방은경 선생님, 한동관 선생님, 구기태 선생 님 그리고 치주과 교실원 여러분들께 고마움을 전합니다.

그리고, 늘 아낌 없는 사랑과 헌신적인 도움으로 든든하고 따뜻한 버팀 목이 되어준 사랑하는 나의 아내와 항상 한없는 따뜻함이 되어준 사랑하는 채연, 준기에게 진정으로 사랑과 고마움의 마음을 전합니다. 모든 분들께 진심으로 감사 드립니다.

> 2005년 6월 저자 씀

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract (English) ·····	iii
I. Introduction ·····	1
II. Materials and Methods	5
1. Animals ·····	5
2. rhBMP-2 Implant Construction	5
3. Surgical Procedures ·····	7
4. Histologic and Histometric Procedures	8
5. Statistical Analysis	10
III. Results ·····	11
1. Clinical Observations	11
2. Histologic Observations	11
3. Histometric Analysis	13
IV. Discussion	16
V. Conclusion	20
References ·····	21
Legends ·····	29
Figures	31
Abstract (Korean) ·····	34

# List of Figures

Figure 1.	Cylinder type mold (8mm in diameter) used in this study. •••••	6
Figure 2.	Schematic drawing of calvarial osteotomy defect showing histometric analysis.	9
Figure 3.	Representative photomicrographs of defect sites receiving sham-surgery control at 2 weeks and 8 weeks post-surgery. •••	31
Figure 4.	Representative photomicrographs of defect sites receiving FFSS control at 2 weeks and 8 weeks post-surgery	31
Figure 5.	Representative photomicrographs of defect sites receiving FFSS/β-TCP control at 2 and 8 weeks post-surgery.	32
Figure 6.	Representative photomicrographs of defect sites receiving rhBMP-2/FFSS at 2 and 8 weeks post-surgery	32
Figure 7	Representative photomicrographs of defect sites receiving rhBMP-2/FFSS/β-TCP at 2 and 8 weeks post-surgery	33

## List of Tables

Table 1.	Defect closure ·····	14
Table 2.	New bone area.	14
Table 3.	Augmented area	15

Abstract

# Effect of Fibrin-Fibronectin Sealing System in combination with ß-Tricalcium Phosphate as a Carrier for Recombinant Human Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 on Bone Formation in Rat Calvarial Defects

Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) are being evaluated as potential candidates for periodontal and bone regenerative therapy. In spite of good prospects for BMP applications, an ideal carrier system for BMPs has not yet been identified. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the osteogenic effect of a fibrin-fibronectin sealing system (FFSS) combined with β-tricalcium phosphate (β-TCP) as a carrier system for rhBMP-2 in the rat calvarial defect model.

Eight-mm critical-size calvarial defects were created in 100 male Sprague-Dawley rats. The animals were divided into 5 groups of 20 animals each. The defects were treated with rhBMP-2/FFSS, rhBMP-2/FFSS/ß-TCP, FFSS and FFSS/ß-TCP carrier control or were left untreated as a sham-surgery control. Defects were evaluated by histologic and histometric parameters following a 2- and 8-week healing interval (10 animals/group/healing intervals).

The FFSS/ß-TCP carrier group was significantly greater in new bone area at 2

weeks (p <0.05) and augmented area at 2 and 8 weeks (p <0.01) relative to the FFSS carrier group. New bone area and augmented area in the rhBMP-2/FFSS/ß-TCP group were significantly greater than in the rhBMP-2/FFSS group at 8 weeks (p <0.01). On histologic observation, FFSS remnants were observed at 2 weeks, but by 8 weeks, the FFSS appeared to be completely resorbed. rhBMP-2 combined with FFSS/ß-TCP produced significantly more new bone formation and augmentation in this calvarial defect model. In conclusion, FFSS/ß-TCP may be considered as an available carrier for rhBMP-2.

**Key Words:** Osteogenic effect; bone morphogenetic protein-2; fibrin-fibronectin sealing system; β-tricalcium phosphate; rat calvarial defect model

# Effect of B-Tricalcium Phosphate in combination with Fibrin-Fibronectin Sealing System as a Carrier for Recombinant Human Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 on Bone Formation in Rat Calvarial Defects

Sung-Jae Hong, D.D.S., M.S.D.

Department of Dental Science Graduate School, Yonsei University (Directed by Prof. Kyoo-Sung Cho, D.D.S., M.S.D., PhD.)

### **I. Introduction**

In 1965, Urist observed that implanting demineralized bone matrix in extraskeletal (e.g., subcutaneous) sites generated osseous tissue in rats (Urist, 1965). The factors within the matrix responsible for this effect were named bone morphogenetic proteins ((BMPs) Urist et al., 1971). BMPs are growth and differentiation factors that act on mesenchymal cells, causing them to differentiate into mature osteoblasts and build new bone. Advances in DNA technology permitted cloning and characterization of several BMPs, yielding larger quantities of purified

recombinant human BMPs (Wozney et al., 1988; Wang et al., 1988). Today, more than 20 BMPs have been identified and several including BMP-2, -4, -5, -6, and -7 have been shown to be osteoinductive (Sampath et al., 1992; Wikesjo et al., 1999;Kim et al., 2004).

Implantation of BMPs alone does not induce bone formation because the protein rapidly diffuses from the site of implantation. Therefore, a carrier is needed to deliver and release substantial quantities of BMPs to the specific location for osteoinduction. Such a carrier material should be biocompatible to minimize local tissue response and biodegradable to allow replacement by newly formed bone (Aldinger et al., 1991). Addition, the requirements for an ideal carrier system include simplicity in application and manufacture. Studies of such carriers to date include biological materials such as bone matrix (Toriumi et al., 1991; Yassco et al., 1992), absorbable collagen sponge ((ACS) Sampath et al., 1981; King et al., 1998; Barboza et al., 2000), fibrin sealant (Kawamura et al., 1988), synthetic polymers (poly(glycolic acid-colactic)acid) (Miyamoto et al., 1993; Miki et al., 1996), and ceramic materials, such as tricalcium phosphate (Urist et al., 1984; Urist et al., 1987; Gao et al., 1996; Alam et al., 2001). Although various carriers for BMPs have been investigated, an ideal carrier system has not yet been determined.

A series of investigations have been conducted utilized ACS, ß-tricalcium phosphate (ß-TCP), and a fibrin-fibronectin sealing system (FFSS) as carriers for

BMPs delivery (Kim et al., 2002; Choi et al., 2002; Ahn et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2004; Pang et al. 2004; Han et al., 2005; Hyun et al., 2005). In space-providing skeletal defects, ACS appears to be an effective carrier. However, in cases in which space could not be provided, compressive forces acted unfavorably on ACS, resulting in compromised effectiveness. A B-TCP carrier showed sufficient resistance to compressive force and resulted in successful augmentation. However, delayed resorption of the particles appeared to hinder new bone formation and it was difficult to manipulate.

FFSS, also called "fibrin sealant" or "fibrin glue," is a human plasma derivative that mimics the final stages of blood coagulation, forming a fibrin clot. FFSS has a potential for promoting wound healing, hemostasis and tissue adhesion. Therefore, FFSS has been used as an adjunct in a wide variety of surgical procedures (Whiteman et al., 1997; Davis et al., 1998; Jackson et al., 2001; Tribod et al., 2004).

In this present study, FFSS was mixed with particulated  $\beta$ -TCP to serve as a carrier for BMPs. The rationale behind this was to utilize the sticky properties of FFSS, which is resorbable glue, and to mix it with  $\beta$ -TCP to create a new carrier system that was easy to mold and manipulate. It was expected that the synergic effect of the two osteoconductive materials would result in different resorption rates and release kinetics.

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the osteogenic effect of fibrinfibronectin sealing system combined with  $\beta$ -tricalcium phosphate (FFSS/ $\beta$ -TCP) as a carrier system for rhBMP-2 in the rat calvarial defect model.

### **II. Materials & methods**

#### 1. Animals

One-hundred male Sprague-Dawley rats (weight 250-300 g) were used. Rats were maintained in plastic cages in a room with a 12 h-day/night cycle and an ambient temperature of 21°C, with *ad libitum* access to water and standard laboratory pellets. Animal selection and management, surgical protocol, and preparation ere in accordance with the routines approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, Yonsei Medical Center, Seoul, Korea.

#### 2. rhBMP-2 Implant Construction

FFSS<sup>||</sup> are available as vapor-heated, freeze-dried 2-component preparation: a fibrinogen/fibronectin/factor XIII concentrate and a thrombin concentrate. The fibrinogen concentrate is dissolved in an antifibrinolytic solution (aprotinin), and the thrombin concentrate is dissolved in dilute calcium chloride.

rhBMP-2<sup>§</sup> was reconstituted and diluted in buffer to produce a concentration of 0.05 mg/ml. The rhBMP-2/FFSS implants were made by mixing equal volumes of FFSS and rhBMP-2 (0.05 mg/ml) in buffer. The final rhBMP-2 concentration in rhBMP-2/FFSS implants was 0.025 mg/ml.

For the rhBMP-2/FFSS/ß-TCP implants, ß-TCP<sup>¶</sup> particles were placed in a sterile cylinder type mold and loaded with a rhBMP-2/FFSS solution. For the FFSS/ß-TCP implants, ß-TCP particles were loaded with FFSS solution only. All implants were made by clotting in a cylinder type mold. The final disc-shaped implant was 3 mm in height and 8 mm in diameter. Following a 5-minute binding time, the implant was placed into the calvarial defects (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Cylinder type mold (8mm in diameter) used in this study (A). For peripheral seal, additional solution was injected into the block margin (B). The final disc-shaped implant was 3 mm in height and 8 mm in diameter (C).

|| Tisseel®, Immuno AG, Vienna, Austria

§ R&D Systems Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA

¶ Cerasorb®, 150-500 µm, Curasan, Kleinotheim, Germany

#### **3. Surgical Procedures**

The animals were anaesthetized by an intramuscular injection (5 mg/kg body wt.) of a 4:1 solution of ketamine hydrochloride<sup>\*\*</sup>:Xylazine<sup>††</sup>. Routine infiltration anaesthesia<sup>‡‡</sup> was used at the surgical site. An incision was made in the sagittal plane across the cranium and a full thickness flap was reflected, exposing the calvarial bone. A standardized, circular, transosseous defect, 8 mm in diameter, was created on the cranium using saline-cooled trephine drill <sup>#</sup>. The animals were divided into 5 groups of 20 animals each and allowed to heal for 2 (10 rats) or 8 (10 rats) weeks. Each animal received 1 of 5 experimental treatments: sham-surgery control in which no material was applied to the defect, FFSS carrier control, FFSS/β-TCP carrier control, rhBMP-2/FFSS and rhBMP-2/FFSS/β-TCP. The periosteum and skin were closed and sutured with 4-0 coated Vicryl sutures<sup>§§</sup> for primary intention healing.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Ketalar®, Yuhan Co., Seoul, Korea

<sup>††</sup> Rompun®, Bayer Korea, Seoul, Korea

<sup>‡‡ 2%</sup> lidocaine, 1:100,000 epinephrine, Kwangmyung Pharm., Seoul, Korea

<sup># 3</sup>i, Palm Beach Gardens, FL, USA

<sup>§§</sup> Polyglactin 910, braided absorbable suture, Ethicon, Johnson & Johnson Int., Edinburgh, UK

#### 4. Histologic and Histometric Procedures

The animals were sacrificed by  $CO_2$  asphyxiation at 2 and 8 weeks post-surgery. Block sections, including the experimental sites, were removed and fixed in a 10% neutral buffered formalin solution for 10 days. Samples were decalcified by 5% formic acid for 14 days and embedded in paraffin. Serial sections 5um in thickness were prepared at intervals of 80 um, stained with hematoxylin/eosin (H-E), and examined using a light microscope. The most central sections from each block were selected for histological evaluation.

Computer-assisted histometric measurements were obtained using an automated image analysis system<sup>|| || ||</sup> coupled with a video camera on a light microscope<sup>¶</sup>. Sections were examined at magnifications of x 20 and x 100. Histometric parameters were defined as follows (Figure 2). :

Defect closure (%): the distance between the defect margin and ingrown bone margin in mm. The percent defect closure was calculated by subtracting this figure from the total defect diameter, divided by the total defect diameter x 100.

New bone area (mm<sup>2</sup>): the area of newly formed bone within the total augmented area.

<sup>||</sup> Image-Pro Plus®, Media Cybernetics, Silver Spring, MD, USA

<sup>¶¶</sup> Olympus BX50, Olympus Optical Co., Tokyo, Japan

Augmented area (mm<sup>2</sup>): all tissues within the boundaries of newly formed bone, i.e. mineralized bone and fatty marrow and fibrovascular tissue/marrow and residual biomaterial.



Figure 2. Schematic drawing of calvarial osteotomy defect showing the histometric analysis

#### 5. Statistical Analysis

Histometric recordings from the samples were used to calculate means and standard deviations (m±SD). To detect interactions between the healing interval and treatment condition, a two-way analysis of variance was used (two-way ANOVA). ANOVA and post hoc t-tests were used to analyze the differences between treatment groups at each healing interval. For the comparisons between the 2- and 8-week healing interval within the same group, a paired t-test was used. A p-value <0.05 was considered significant.

### **III. Results**

#### 1. Clinical Observations

Wound healing was generally uneventful and was similar for all groups. No material exposure or other complications were observed at the surgical sites.

#### 2. Histologic Observations

Sham-surgery control group: At 2 and 8 weeks post-surgery, defects were filled with thin loose connective tissue. Also, minimal new bone formation originating from the defect margins was observed. The defect center appeared to be collapsed, possibly due to tissue compression (Figure 3).

FFSS carrier control group: At 2 weeks post-surgery, the defect sites were filled with dense connective tissue and small particles of residual FFSS. Macrophages and inflammatory round cells were observed around the FFSS remnants. Minimal new bone formation was observed. At 8 weeks, defect sites exhibited more bone formation from the defect margin to the center than was seen at 2 weeks. The FFSS appeared to be resorbed completely (Figure 4).

FFSS/ß-TCP carrier control group: At 2 weeks post-surgery, a large number of residual ß-TCP particles were present within dense connective tissue at the defect site.

In addition, some new bone formation adjacent to defect margins was observed. Histological observations at 8 weeks were similar to observations at 2 weeks. Compared with the 2 week observations, residual β-TCP particles were fewer in number and the quantity of newly formed bone was greater (Figure 5).

rhBMP-2/FFSS group: All defect sites were almost completely bridged at 2 and 8 weeks. At 2 weeks, newly formed bone with osteocytes was evident mainly at the periphery of the defects, and osteoblast-like cells exhibited a dense arrangement adjacent to the newly formed bone. At 8 weeks, the quantity of newly formed bone was greater than that observed at 2 weeks and the specimens showed more advanced stages of remodeling and consolidation. Cement lines, concentric rings of the Haversian system and fatty marrow were observed in the new bone area (Figure 6).

rhBMP-2/FFSS/ß-TCP group: At 2 weeks postsurgery, a large number of residual ß-TCP particles were observed within the newly formed bone at the defect site. Occasionally, ß-TCP particles were surrounded by woven bone. The newly formed bone was found not only in direct contact with ß-TCP particles, but also throughout the defect. At 8 weeks, fewer residual ß-TCP particles were observed compared to the 2 week observations. The quantity of the newly formed bone was more lamellar than that

at 2 weeks. Cement lines and fatty marrow were observed in the new bone area (Figure 7).

#### 3. Histometric Analysis

Ten animals were excluded from the histometric analysis due to technical complications in the histologic processing (one animal/group/healing intervals).

Tables 1-3 show the results of histometric analysis. The FFSS/ $\beta$ -TCP carrier group was significantly greater than the FFSS carrier group in terms of new bone area at 2 weeks (p <0.05) and augmented area at 2 and 8 weeks (p <0.01). Defect closure, new bone area, and augmented area in the rhBMP-2/FFSS and rhBMP-2/FFSS/ $\beta$ -TCP groups were significantly greater than in the sham-surgery control group at each healing interval (p <0.01). The defects were almost completely closed in the rhBMP-2/FFSS and rhBMP-2/FFSS/ $\beta$ -TCP groups. In terms of new bone area, there was no significant difference between these two rhBMP-2 groups at 2 weeks. However at 8 weeks, the rhBMP-2/FFSS/ $\beta$ -TCP group was significantly greater than in the rhBMP-2/FFSS/ $\beta$ -TCP group was significantly greater than the rhBMP-2/FFSS group (p <0.01). The augmented area in the rhBMP-2/FFSS/ $\beta$ -TCP group was significantly greater than in the rhBMP-2/FFSS group (p <0.01).

A two-way ANOVA revealed that there was an interaction between the healing interval and treatment condition in defect closure and new bone area (p < 0.01). Treatment had a strong influence on defect closure, new bone area and augmented

area (p <0.01), whereas healing interval had an influence on defect closure and new bone area (p <0.01).

	2 weeks	8 weeks
Sham-surgery control	$11.7\pm2.9$	$13.7\pm4.6$
FFSS	$38.1\pm26.4^*$	$68.9\pm30.0^{*\text{f}}$
FFSS/ β-TCP	$55.9 \pm 25.4^{*}$	$86.2\pm10.5^{* \text{M}}\text{J}$
rhBMP-2/FFSS	$89.4 \pm 11.7^{\text{M}^{\ddagger}}$	$95.4\pm8.1^{*\P}$
rhBMP-2/FFSS/ β-TCP	$91.4\pm8.7^{\text{M}^{\dagger}}$	$96.9 \pm 2.5^{* \text{m}}$

Table 1. Defect closure (group means ± SD; n=9, %)

\*: Statistically significant difference compared to surgical control group (P<0.01)

¶: Statistically significant difference compared to FFSS group (P<0.05)

†: Statistically significant difference compared to FFSS/β-TCP group (P<0.01)

 $\oint$ : Statistically significant difference compared to 2 weeks (P<0.05)

Table 2. New bone area (group means $\pm$ SD; n=9, n	nm <sup>2</sup> )
--	-------------------

2 weeks	8 weeks
$0.2\pm~0.1$	$0.4\pm0.1$ $^{\circ}$
$0.4 \pm 0.2$	$2.3\pm0.7^{*\text{f}}$
$1.4\pm1.2^{*\P}$	$2.1\pm0.3^{*\text{s}}$
$2.6\pm0.6^{\text{M}\dagger}$	$3.4\pm0.5^{\text{MeV}}$
$2.8 \pm 1.4^{* \text{m}^{\dagger}}$	$5.3\pm2.1^{\text{MHI}}$
	2 weeks $0.2 \pm 0.1$ $0.4 \pm 0.2$ $1.4 \pm 1.2^{*!}$ $2.6 \pm 0.6^{*!}$ $2.8 \pm 1.4^{*!}$

\*: Statistically significant difference compared to surgical control group (P<0.05)

¶: Statistically significant difference compared to FFSS group (P<0.05)

†: Statistically significant difference compared to FFSS/B-TCP group (P<0.05)

: Statistically significant difference compared to rhBMP-2/FFSS (P<0.01)

 $\oint$  : Statistically significant difference compared to 2 weeks (P<0.05)

	2 weeks	8 weeks
Sham-surgery control	$0.2\pm0.1$	$0.4\pm0.1{}^{ m s}$
FFSS	$5.6\pm3.0^{*}$	$5.0{\pm}1.4^{*}$
FFSS/ ß-TCP	$11.0\pm1.7^{*\P}$	$10.2 \pm 1.6^{*}$
rhBMP-2/FFSS	$4.9{\pm}~0.5^{*\dagger}$	$4.8\pm1.2^{*\dagger}$
rhBMP-2/FFSS/ ß-TCP	$13.2 \pm 1.3^{*}$	$12.1 \pm 1.9^{\text{MeV}}$

Table 3. Augmented area (group means ± SD; n=9, mm<sup>2</sup>)

\*: Statistically significant difference compared to surgical control group (P<0.01)

¶: Statistically significant difference compared to FFSS group (P<0.01)

†: Statistically significant difference compared to FFSS/ß-TCP group (P<0.01)

: Statistically significant difference compared to rhBMP-2/FFSS (P<0.01)

 $\oint$  : Statistically significant difference compared to 2 weeks (P<0.01)

### **IV. Discussion**

The objective of this study was to evaluate the osteogenic effects of fibrinfibronectin sealing system combined with ß-tricalcium phosphate (FFSS/ß-TCP) as a carrier system for rhBMP-2 in the rat calvarial defect model. Five groups of 20 animals each received one of the following: sham-surgery control, FFSS and FFSS/ß-TCP carrier control, rhBMP-2/FFSS and rhBMP-2/FFSS/ß-TCP. These groups were evaluated by histologic and histometric parameters following a 2- and 8-week healing interval. The experimental defects receiving rhBMP-2 underwent extensive bone formation following each healing interval.

The experimental model used in this study was based on that described by Takagi and Urist (Takagi et al., 1982). The critical-size rat calvarial defect, compared with other experimental bone defects, is a convenient model for evaluating bone regenerative effects of biomaterials because of its relative accessibility, simplicity and reproducibility because spontaneous healing does not occur in the control specimens (Frame, 1980; Schmitz et al., 1986).

It has been reported that rhBMPs alone is sufficient to induce bone formation; however, if not delivered properly to the effecter site, water-soluble rhBMP may be diffused, resulting in a reduced osteoinductive effect (Nakahara et al., 1989). It has been shown that the therapeutic outcome of rhBMP-2 depends on its quantity, concentration, and time of application (King et al., 2002). Therefore, an appropriate carrier system is critical for the delivery, retention, and release of BMPs at the implantation site in order to achieve an osteoinductive effect (Urist et al., 1984, 1987; Kenley et al., 1994; Wikesjö et al., 2001).

In this study, FFSS and FFSS combined with β-TCP (FFSS/β-TCP) were used as the carrier system for rhBMP-2. β-TCP has been developed as an osteoconductive, biodegradable bone substitute. Its porous structure enables it to entrap rhBMPs within its micropores, and intrinsically diffusible rhBMPs can be retained and its action consequently prolonged (Urist et al. 1984). Although the porous structure of β-TCP allows cells and newly formed tissues to migrate into it, it also provides sufficient firmness against soft tissue pressure.

FFSS is an organic, biodegradable material derived from human plasma. It has angiotropic, hemostatic, and osteoconductive properties. The beneficial effect of FFSS in wound healing has been well-documented, but studies of its direct influence on bone healing and effectiveness in augmenting bone graft healing have produced conflicting results. A clinical study showed the fibrin matrix maintains room for new bone formation (Pini prato et al., 1998). FFSS produced an early enhancement of bone repair in rabbits (Bosch et al., 1980), and enhancement of physical properties of the bony callus in dogs (Keller et al., 1985). Isogai et al. (2000) reported that fibrin clot support the growth, adhesion, migration and differentiation of osteoblasts in vitro. In contrast, Carmagnola et al. (2002) reported that FFSS may have impaired the early vascularization of biomaterials and, as a consequence, prevented growth of host bone into the grafted defect. Brittberg et al. (1997) observed that FFSS treatment inhibited the natural repair of osteochondral defects in rabbits. Even though the effect of FFSS on bone healing remains controversial, FFSS is considered effective for BMPs carriers. Kawamura et al. (1988) reported that FFSS may enhance cell proliferation and improve contact between BMPs and the surrounding cells.

In this study, the FFSS/ $\beta$ -TCP carrier group was significantly greater than the FFSS carrier group in new bone area at 2 weeks (p <0.05) and augmented area at 2 and 8 weeks (p <0.01). The control group of  $\beta$ -TCP alone was not included since extensive evaluation was previously conducted in a series of research studies. Pang et al. (2004) evaluated  $\beta$ -TCP alone on bone formation using this type of model and found new bone area of 0.9mm<sup>2</sup> at 2 weeks and 1.2 mm<sup>2</sup> at 8 weeks. Although statistical analysis was not performed, these findings are comparable with the result in our FFSS/ $\beta$ -TCP carrier group (1.4mm<sup>2</sup> of new bone area at 2 weeks and 2.1 mm<sup>2</sup> at 8 weeks). Mixing FFSS with  $\beta$ -TCP particles may have a positive effect on bone regeneration

New bone area in the rhBMP-2/FFSS group at 8 weeks was significantly greater than at 2 weeks (p <0.05). However, in the previous study, there were no significant differences between the healing interval and new bone area in the rhBMP-4/ $\beta$ -TCP

group. It may be that, when soaking BMPs in β-TCP particles, BMPs are released quickly. On the contrary, when BMPs are mixed with FFSS, BMPs are released slowly as resorption of FFSS progresses.

The augmented area of the rhBMP-2/FFSS/ß-TCP group was significantly greater than that of the other groups at each healing interval. Bone augmentation is necessary in many clinical cases. Over the years, autogenous grafting has been considered the "gold standard" in this form of treatment. Autogenous grafting has limitations, however, including an inadequacy of supply and surgical morbidity, including donor site pain and infection. Moreover, graft resorption poses a severe problem (Schallhorn. 1972). rhBMP-2/FFSS/ß-TCP is considered an effective substitute that overcomes these problems. Furthermore, FFSS combined with ß-TCP allows easy clinical manipulation.

These results indicate that using FFSS as a carrier for rhBMP-2 is effective in new bone formation. However, FFSS was resorbed too quickly to produce sufficient augmentation. On the other hand, rhBMP-2 combined with FFSS/β-TCP produced significant new bone formation and augmentation in the calvarial defect model. In conclusion, FFSS/β-TCP may be considered an available carrier for rhBMP-2.

#### **V.** Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the osteogenic effect of a fibrinfibronectin sealing system (FFSS) combined with β-tricalcium phosphate (β-TCP) as a carrier system for rhBMP-2 in the rat calvarial defect model.

Eight-mm critical-size calvarial defects were created in 100 male Sprague-Dawley rats. The animals were divided into 5 groups of 20 animals each. The defects were treated with rhBMP-2/FFSS, rhBMP-2/FFSS/β-TCP, FFSS and FFSS/β-TCP carrier control or were left untreated as a sham-surgery control. Defects were evaluated by histologic and histometric parameters following a 2- and 8-week healing interval (10 animals/group/healing intervals).

The FFSS/β-TCP carrier group was significantly greater in new bone area at 2 weeks (p <0.05) and augmented area at 2 and 8 weeks (p <0.01) relative to the FFSS carrier group. New bone area and augmented area in the rhBMP-2/FFSS/β-TCP group were significantly greater than in the rhBMP-2/FFSS group at 8 weeks (p <0.01). On histologic observation, FFSS remnants were observed at 2 weeks, but by 8 weeks, the FFSS appeared to be completely resorbed. rhBMP-2 combined with FFSS/β-TCP produced significantly more new bone formation and augmentation in this calvarial defect model. In conclusion, FFSS/β-TCP may be considered as an available carrier for rhBMP-2.

### References

Ahn SH, Kim CS, Suk HJ, et al. Effect of Recombinant Human Bone Morphogenetic Protein- 4 with Carriers in Rat Calvarial Defects. J Periodontol 2003; 74:787-797.

Alam MI, Asahina I, Ohmamiuda K, Enomoto S. Comparative study of biphasic calcium phosphate ceramics impregnated with rhBMP-2 as bone substitutes. J Biomed Mater Res 2001;54:129-138.

Aldinger G, Herr G, Kusserwetter W, Reis HJ, Thielemann FW, Holz U. Bone morphogenetic protein: a review. Int Orthop 1991;15:169-177.

Barboza EP, Duarte ME, Geolas L, Sorensen RG, Riedel GE, Wikesjo UM. Ridge augmentation following implantation of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 in the dog. J Periodontol 2000;71:488-496.

Bosch P, Lintner F, Arbes H, Brand G. Experimental investigations of the effect of the fibrin adhesive on the Kiel heterologous bone graft. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 1980;96:177-185.

Brittberg M, Sjögren-Jansson E, Lindahl A, Peterson L. Influence of fibrin sealant (Tisseel<sup>®</sup>) on osteochondral defect repair in the rabbit knee. Biomaterials 1997;18:235-242.

Carmagmola D, Berglundh T, Lindhe J. The effect of a fibrin glue on the integration of Bio-Oss<sup>®</sup> with bone tissue. An experimental study in labrador dogs. J Clin Periodontol 2002;29:377-383.

Choi SH, Kim CK, Cho KS, et al. Effect of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2/absorbable collagen sponge (rhBMP-2/ACS) on healing in 3-wall intrabony defects in dogs. J Periodontol 2002;73:63-72.

Davis BR, Sandor GK. Use of fibrin glue in maxillofacial surgery. J Otolaryngol 1998;27:107-112.

Frame JW: A convenient animal model for testing bone substitute materials. J Oral Surg 1980;38:176-180.

Gao TJ, Lindholm TS, Kommonen B, et al. Enhanced healing of segmental tibial defects in sheep by a composite bone substitute composed of tricalcium phosphate

cylinder, bone morphogenetic protein, and type IV collagen. J Biomed Mater Res 1996;32:505-512.

Han DK, Kim CS, Cho KS. Effect of a Fibrin-fibronectin sealing system as a carrier for recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-4 on bone formation in rat calvarial defects. J Periodontol 2005, accepted for publication.

Hyun SJ, Choi SH, Chai JK, Cho KS, Kim CK, Kim CS. The effect of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2, 4 and 7 on bone formation in rat calvarial defects. J Periodontol 2005, accepted for publication.

Isogai N, Landis WJ, Mori R, Gotoh Y, Gerstenfeld LC, Upton J, et al. Experimental use of fibrin glue to induce site-directed osteogenesis from cultured periosteal cells. Plast Reconstr Surg 2000;105:953-963.

Jackson MR. Fibrin sealants in surgical practice: an overview. Am J Surg 2001;182(2 Suppl):1S-7S.

Kawamura M and Urist MR. Human fibrin is a physiologic delivery system for bone morphogenetic protein. Clin Orthop Rel Res 1988;235:302-310

Keller J, Andreassen TT, Joyce F, Knudsen VE, Jorgensen PH, Lucht U. Fixation of osteochondral fractures. Fibrin sealant tested in dogs. Acta Orthop Scand 1985;56:323-326.

Kenley R, Marden L, Turek T, Jin L, Ron E, Hollinger JO. Osseous regeneration in the rat calvarium using novel delivery systems for recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 (rhBMP-2). J Biomed Mater Res 1994;28:1139-1147.

Kim CS, Choi SH, Choi BK, et al. The effect of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-4 on the osteoblastic differentiation of mouse calvarial cells affected by Porphyromonas gingivalis. J Periodontol 2002;73:1126-1132.

Kim CS, Kim JI, Kim J, Choi SH, Chai JK, Kim CK, Cho KS. Ectopic bone formation associated with recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 using absorbable collagen sponge and beta tricalcium phosphate as carriers. Biomaterials 2004;19:1-7.

King GN, Cochran DL. Factors that modulate the effect of bone morphogenetic protein-induced periodontal regeneration; a critical review. J Periodontol 2002;73:925-936.

King GN, King N, Hughes FJ. Two delivery systems for recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 on periodontal regeneration in vivo. J Periodont Res 1998;33:226-236.

Miki T, Imai Y. Osteoinductive potential of freeze-derived, biodegradable, poly(glycolic acid-co-lactic acid) disks incorporated with bone morphogenetic protein in skull defects in rats. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1996;25:402-426.

Miyamoto S, Takaoka K, Okada T, et al. Polylactic acid-polyethylene glycol block copolymer: a new biodegradable synthetic carrier for bone morphogenetic proteins. Clin Orthop Rel Res 1993;294:333-343.

Nakahara H, Takaoka K, Koezuka M, Sugamoto K, Tsuda T, Ono K. Periosteal bone formation elicited by partially purified bone morphogenetic protein. Clin orthop 1989;239:299-305

Pang EK, Im SU, Kim CS, et al. Effect of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-4 dose on bone formation in rat calvarial defects. J Periodontol 2004;75:1364-1370.

Pini prato GP, Cortellini P, Clauser C. Fibrin and fibronectin sealing system in a guided tissue regeneration procedure; A case report. J Periodontol 1998;59:679-683.

Sampath TK, Maliakal JC, Hauschka PV. Recombinant human osteogenic protein-1 (hOP-1) induces new bone formation in vivo with a specific activity comparable with natural bovine osteogenic protein and stimulates osteoblast proliferation and differentiation in vitro. J Biol Chem 1992;267:20352-20362.

Sampath TK, Reddi AH, Dissociative extraction and reconstitution of extracellular matrix components involved in local bone differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci (USA) 1981;78:7599-7603.

Schallhorn RG. Postoperative problems associated with iliac transplants. J Periodontol 1972;43:3-9.

Schmitz JP, Hollinger JO. The critical size defect as an experimental model for craniomandibulofacial nonunion. Clin Orthop 1986;205: 299-308.

Takagi K and Urist MR. The reaction of the dura to bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) in repair of skull defects. Ann Surg; 1982;196:100-109.

- 26 -

Toriumi DM, Kotler HS, Luxenburg DP. Mandibular reconstruction with a recombinant bone-inducing factor. Arch Otolaryngol Haed Neck Surg 1991;117:1101-1112.

Tribod F, Maneesh M, Gregory T, Caldwell. Clinical applications of fibrin sealants. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004;62:218-224.

Urist MR, Lietze A, Dawson E. Beta-tricalcium phosphate delivery system for bone morphogenetic protein. Clin Orthop 1984;187:277-280.

Urist MR, Nilsson O, Rasmussen J, et al. Bone regeneration under the influence of a bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) beta tricalcium phosphate (TCP) composite in skull trephine defects in dogs. Clin Orthop Rel Res 1987;214:295-304

Urist MR. Bone Formation by autoinduction. Science 1965;150:893-899.

Urist MR. Strates BS. Bone morphogenetic protein. J Dent Res 1971;50:1392-1406.

Wang EA, Rosen V, Cordes P, et al. Purification and characterization of other distinct bone-inducing factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci (USA) 1988;85:9484-94884.

Whiteman DH, Berry RL, Green DM. Platelet gel: an autologous alternative to fibrin glue with applications in oral and maxillofacial surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1997;55:1294-1299.

Wikesjo UM, Guglielmoni P, Promsudthi A, et al. Periodontal repair in dogs: effect of rhBMP-2 concentration on regeneration of alveolar bone and periodontal attachment. J Clin Periodontol 1999;26:392-400.

Wikesjö UM, Sorensen RG, Wozney JM. Augmentation of alveolar bone and dental implant osseointegration: clinical implications of studies with rhBMP-2. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2001;83-A Suppl 1(Pt 2):S136-45.

Wozney JM, Rosen V, Celeste AJ, et al. Novel regulators of bone formation: Molecular clones and activities. Science 1988;242:1528-1534.

Yasco AW, Lane JM, Fellinger EJ. The healing of segmental bone defects, induced by recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein (rhBMP-2). J Bone Joint Surg 1992;74-A:659-671.

### Legends

Figure 1. Cylinder type mold (8mm in diameter) used in this study.

Figure 2. Schematic drawing of calvarial osteotomy defect showing histometric analysis.

**Figure 3.** Representative photomicrographs of the sham-surgery control at 2 (A) and 8 weeks (B). Thin loose connective tissues were observed between margins. The center of the defect appears collapsed (arrow head: defect margin; H-E stain; original magnification x20).

**Figure 4.** Representative photomicrographs of FFSS carrier control at 2 weeks (A and B) and 8 weeks (C and D). At 2 weeks, the defect sites were filled with dense connective tissue and small particles of residual FFSS. Minimal new bone formation was observed. At 8 weeks, more bone formation compared to 2 weeks (arrow head: defect margin, NB: new bone; H-E stain; original magnification A and C x20; B and D x100).

**Figure 5.** Representative photomicrographs of FFSS/ ß-TCP carrier control at 2 weeks (A and B) and 8 weeks (C and D). Residual ß-TCP particles were still present

within dense connective tissue at the defect site at 8 weeks. Compared with the 2 weeks observations, residual  $\beta$ -TCP particles were fewer in number, and the quantity of newly formed bone was greater than observed at 2 weeks. (arrow head: defect margin, +:  $\beta$ -TCP; H-E stain; original magnification A and C x20; B and D x100).

**Figure 6**. Representative photomicrographs of rhBMP-2/FFSS group at 2 weeks (A and B) and 8 weeks(C and D). Newly formed bone was observed at 2 weeks. At 8 weeks, FFSS had been replaced by new bone and cement lines were observed. The quantity of the new bone was greater and the appearance of the new bone was more lamellar compare to 2 weeks. (arrow head: defect margin, arrow: cement lines, NB: new bone; H-E stain; original magnification A and C x20; B and D x100).

**Figure 7.** Representative photomicrographs of rhBMP-2/FFSS/ ß-TCP group at 2 weeks (A and B) and 8 weeks(C and D). A large number of residual ß-TCP particles were observed within the new bone at 2, 8 weeks. Compare to 2 weeks, the quantity of the new bone was greater and the appearance of the new bone was more lamellar at 8 weeks. Cement lines was seen in the new bone area (arrow head: defect margin, arrow: cement lines, NB: new bone; H-E stain; original magnification A and C x20; B and D x100).

# Figures I



Figure 3



Figure 4

# Figures II



Figure 5



Figure 6

# Figures III



Figure 7

국문요약

### 백서 두개골 결손부에서 rhBMP-2의 전달체로서

fibirn-fibronectin sealing system 과

#### beta tricalcium phosphate 복합체의 골재생 효과

<지도교수 조규성>

연세대학교 대학원 치의학과

#### 홍 성 재

골형성 유도 단백질 (bone morphogenetic protein, BMPs)은 치주치료와 골 재생 치료를 위한 효과적인 골 대체 물질로 평가되어왔다. BMPs 골형성 능력에도 불구하고, 아직 이상적인 전달체는 존재하지 않는다. 이 연구의 목적은 fibrin-fibronectin sealing system 과 ß-TCP (FFSS/ß-TCP) 복합체를 골형성 유도 단백질(rhBMP-2) 운반체로 사용하여 백서 두개골 결손부에 적용하였을 때, 골형성 효과를 평가하는 것이다.

- 34 -

100 마리의 웅성 백서에서 8mm 지름을 갖는 임계크기의 두개부 결손을 형성하였다. 20 마리씩 5 개의 군으로 나누고, 각 군은 아무것도 이식하지 않은 대조군, FFSS 를 이식한 군, FFSS/B-TCP 를 이식한 군, FFSS 와 FFSS/B-TCP 를 전달체로 사용하여 농도 0.025mg/ml rhBMP-2 를 이식한 군으로 나누어 술 후 2 주와 8 주에 치유 결과를 조직학적, 조직계측학적으로 비교 관찰하였다.

조직계측학적 관찰 결과, FFSS/B-TCP군에서 FFSS군보다 2주째 신생골 형성량 (new bone area) 및 2, 8주째 총조직 형성량 (augmented area)이 유의성 있게 증가하였다. 2주째 신생골 형성량은 rhBMP-2/FFSS, rhBMP-2/FFSS/B-TCP 군간의 유의 차는 없었다. 그러나 8주째에는 두 군간에도 유의 차가 관찰되었다 (P <0.01). 총조직 형성량은 rhBMP-2/FFSS/B-TCP군에서 rhBMP-2/FFSS군 보다 2, 8주째 모두에서 유의 차 있는 증가 하였다 (P <0.01).

백서 두개골 결손부에서 FFSS/B-TCP 결합체를 rhBMP-2 전달체로 사용하였을 때 신생골 형성 및 총조직 형성에 유의한 효과가 있었다. 결론적으로, FFSS/B-TCP는 rhBMP-2의 전달체로서의 가능성 있다고 사료된다.

핵심되는 말: 골형성 효과, 골형성 유도 단백질, fibirn-fibronectin sealing system, 베타삼화인산칼슘염(B-TCP), 백서 두개골 결손부

- 35 -